A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The superior court erred by dismissing with prejudice a petition to 
review an administrative decision on the grounds of lack of 
jurisdiction for failing to comply with statutory service and filing 
requirements necessary to vest jurisdiction when, instead, the court 
should have dismissed the petition without prejudice on the wholly 
different grounds that the petition was premature because the 
administrative decision was not a "final, full adjudication of the 
whole controversy" which is necessary to render an administrative 
decision eligible for review. 

2. If (as an alternative to Error No. 1) the administrative decision was 
final and, therefore, eligible for review, the superior court erred by 
dismissing the petition on the grounds of lack of jurisdiction for 
failing to comply with service and filing requirements necessary to 
vest jurisdiction because the petitioners substantially complied 
with the requirements. 

3. If (pursuant to Error No. 2) the administrative decision was final, 
and eligible for review, and the superior court dismissed the 
petition to review for lack of jurisdiction, the superior court erred 
nevertheless by subsequently granting other relief requested by the 
respondent despite the court's acknowledged lack of jurisdiction, 
which jurisdiction is a prerequisite to granting any such relief. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Can the issue of lack of jurisdiction be raised for the first time on 
appeal where the eligibility of a case for review is at issue? 

2. Is an agency decision eligible for review when it is not a final, full 
adjudication of the whole controversy which is a fundamental 
prerequisite under applicable law for vesting jurisdiction in the 
superior court? 

3. If the agency decision was final and eligible for review, did the 
superior court err by dismissing review for lack of jurisdiction 
because the petitioners substantially complied with the procedural 
requirements necessary to vest jurisdiction? 
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4. If the agency decision was final and eligible for review, and the 
superior court properly dismissed review for lack of jurisdiction, 
did the court err by subsequently granting additional relief despite 
the court's acknowledged lack of jurisdiction to grant such 
additional relief? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Department of Natural Resources (DNR) seized vessels 

belonging to Thomas and (to the extent he holds an interest) Alexander 

McLaren for trespass on state waters. The McLarens appealed. 

Appellants' counsel (unbeknownst to them) agreed to DNR's 

request to bifurcate the administrative case so the hearing on liability 

would be followed later by a second hearing on damages. 

The administrative court's Prehearing Order of June 3, 2013, 

reflects the bifurcation arrangement under the "issues" section on page 5. 

DNR's Prehearing Brief, at page 26, also reflects the arrangement, 

and states: 

Since DNR has not completed the removal and disposal 
process, the total sum of its costs cannot yet be calculated. 
For that reason, the parties have agreed that determination 
of actual costs should be scheduled for a hearing follow
ing DNR's sale or other disposal of the Vessels under 
RCW 79.100.050. /fn 56/ Accordingly, DNR requests that 
the Board rule that Thomas McLaren is liable to DNR for all 
reasonable and auditable costs that have been and will be 
incurred in removing and disposing of the Vessels, but 
reserve a determination of the actual costs for future 
hearing. 

/fn 56/ Prehearing Order, P.2, lines 17-18.) 
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And, page 27 of DNR's brief, in the "Conclusion" section, reflects 

bifurcation of the case by asking the Board to: 

... find Mr McLaren liable for DNR's reasonable and audi
table costs pursuant to RCW 79.100.060, which costs will 
be determined at a future date. 

Midway through trial, the McLarens discharged counsel, and 

retained new counsel. 

On April 24, 2014, the ad.min court rendered its decision in the 

form of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order. CP 4-33. A 

cover letter accompanied the decision and stated "This is a FINAL 

ORDER for purposes of appeal to Superior Court within 30 days". CP 3. 

Believing the admin decision to actually be a final order, the 

McLarens initiated appeal by mailing copies of their petition for review to 

all concerned parties in sufficient time, allowing 4 days' delivery time, to 

be received by the 30-day deadline. The petition began King County 

Superior Court Case No. 14-2-15217-5 SEA. 

On June 14, 3013, DNR moved the superior court to dismiss 

review for lack of jurisdiction for failing to serve the administrative court 

with a copy of the petition for review within 30 days. CP 45-108. DNR 

also moved for the additional relief of dismissing Alexander McLaren as 

an appellant for lack of standing and for failure to exhaust administrative 

remedies. CP 45-108. 

On August 8, 2014, the court granted an order dismissing review 

of the case for lack of jurisdiction. CP 152-5. The court also granted the 
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additional relief of dismissing Alexander McLaren as an appellant 

requested by DNR. CP 152-5. McLarens' new counsel's attempt to seek 

a continuance was denied. CP 109-135. 

The McLarens moved for reconsideration and submitted evidence 

they mailed copies of their petition for review to the superior court, the 

administrative board, and counsel for the opposing party. CP 156-164. 

The court denied their motion for reconsideration. CP 165. 

This appeal followed. 

D. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioners received an adverse admin ruling and initiated the 

process to have it reviewed. They filed and served their petition for 

review on all parties by U.S. mail, allowing more than the required 3 days 

for mail delivery to meet the 30-day deadline. The superior court got a 

copy on time, the opposing party 1 day late, but the admin court never 

received a copy (whom they sent another copy after learning of non

delivery). There is good evidence of record they mailed all copies 4 days 

before the deadline. 

Respondent moved to dismiss review for lack of jurisdiction for 

failing to meet the service and filing deadline necessary to vest jurisdiction 

in the superior court. The court entered an order dismissing review with 

prejudice for failing to timely meet the service and filing requirements. 
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The order was wrong for reasons appearing, and not appearing, in 

the order. Under applicable law, a superior court is allowed to review 

only a "final decision of the whole controversy" but this case is not yet 

final and, thus, not yet eligible for review. Pleadings and orders in the 

admin case clearly state the hearing was limited to "liability" only and 

damages would be reserved for a "second, later hearing". Even as of this 

date, that hearing has not yet occurred. 

So, when petitioners sought superior court review, their attempt 

was premature because the admin case was neither final, nor eligible for 

review. Thus, their attempt must be dismissed without prejudice and they 

should be allowed to initiate review at a later date if they so choose. 

Finally, after declining review for lack of jurisdiction, the superior 

court then granted additional relief sought by respondent after acknow

ledging it had no jurisdiction to accept the case. 

This appeal now argues (1) the superior court review of the 

administrative decision should be dismissed, not with prejudice due to 

lack of jurisdiction for failing to timely serve and file as ordered by the 

superior court, but rather without prejudice because the case was not yet 

final and not yet eligible for review, (2) alternatively, the superior court 

should not have dismissed review for failing to timely serve and file their 

petition because the petitioners substantially complied with the service and 

filing requirements, and (3) after dismissing review for lack of jurisdic-
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tion, the superior court then had no power to grant the additional relief 

requested by respondent. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. Can the issue of jurisdiction be raised for the first time on appeal 
where the eligibility of a case for review is at issue? 

The Washington State Supreme Court has held, as an exception to 

the general rule that issues may not be raised for the first time on appeal, 

that a new issue may be raised "when the question raised affects the right 

to maintain the action". Bennet v. Hardy, 113 Wn.2d 912, 784 P.2d 507 

(1990); Maynard Inv. Co. v. McCann, 77Wn.2d 616, 621 465 P.2d 657 

(1970); New Meadows Holding Co. v. Washington Water Power Co., 102 

Wn.2d 495, 498, 687 P.2d 212 (1984). 

Here, the issue is whether the petitioners had yet gained the right to 

maintain a review before the superior court when the admin decision they 

were attempting to appeal was not yet final and, therefore, not yet eligible 

for review under applicable law (as discussed below). Under this 

exception, petitioners have the right to raise this issue for the first time on 

appeal. 

2. Is an administrative decision eligible for review when it is not a 
final, full adjudication of the whole controversy which is a funda
mental prerequisite under applicable law for vesting jurisdiction in 
the superior court? 
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The appellants jumped the gun and began appealing a case not yet 

eligible for review. The right to administrative review is limited to final 

administrative action. Citizens for Clean Air v, City of Spokane, 114 

Wn.2d 20, 27-33, 785 P.2d 447 (1990); RIL Assocs. v. City of Seattle, 61 

Wn. App. 670, 67 4-78, 811 P .2d 971 ( 1991 ). An agency action is final for 

purposes of judicial review if it is one which "impose[ s] an obligation, 

den[ies] a right or fix[ es] some legal relationship as the consummation of 

the administrative process". State Dept of Ecology v. City of Kirkland, 84 

Wn.2d25, 29-30, 523 P.2d 1181 (1974); Wells v. Olsten Corp., 104 Wn. 

App. 135, 145, 15 P.3d 652 (2001). 

Here, the administrative case had been bifurcated so that a deter-

mination of liability would be followed by a separate hearing at which 

there would be a determination of damages. 

In the Department of Natural Resources' Pre-Hearing Brief, at CP 

26-27, DNR states: 

Since DNR has not completed the removal and disposal 
process, the total sum of its costs cannot yet be calculated. 
For that reason, the parties have agreed that determination 
of actual costs should be scheduled for a hearing 
following DNR's sale or other disposal of the Vessels 
under RCW 79.100.050. /fn 56/ Accordingly, DNR requests 
that the Board rule that Thomas McLaren is liable to DNR 
for all reasonable and auditable costs that have been and will 
be incurred in removing and disposing of the Vessels, but 
reserve a determination of the actual costs for future 
hearing. 

/fn 56/ Prehearing Order, P.2, lines 17-18. 
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And on the next page of its brief, in "Conclusion", DNR requests 

the Board: 

... find Mr McLaren liable for DNR's reasonable and 
auditable costs pursuant to RCW 79.100.060, which costs 
will be determined at a future date. 

The June 3, 2013, Prehearing Order (cited in footnote 56) of the 

ad.min court also reflects the bifurcation arrangement under the "issues" 

section on page 5 of that order. 

To date only the first hearing on the matter ofliability has been 

conducted. The second hearing has not yet occurred ... even as of this 

date. Therefore, there has been no consummation of the administrative 

process, no final decision of the whole controversy. 

By jumping the gun, the appellants merely appealed an interlocu-

tory order. There is no right to judicial review for an interlocutory order. 

An interlocutory order is an agency order issued during a controversy 

deciding "some point or matter, but [it] is not a final decision of the whole 

controversy". Samuel's Furniture, Inc. v. State Dept of Ecology, 14 7 

Wn.2d 440, 453, 54P.3d 1194, 63 P.3d 764 (2002). 

Here, because the first hearing decided only the matter of liability, 

it is merely an interlocutory order and not a final decision of the whole 

controversy. The administrative decision was only a partial decision on 
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liability, not a final decision of the whole controversy, and the matter of 

damages remains yet to be heard and decided. 

The appellants jumped the gun because the administrative court 

erroneously labeled its decision as "final" although it was not final for the 

purpose of judicial review. Whether or not the requirement of finality is 

satisfied in any given case depends not on the label affixed by the admini-

strative court but rather upon a realistic appraisal of the consequences of 

such action. Jsbrandtsen v. US. 211 F.2d 51, 55. 

Here, although the administrative court labeled its decision which 

was only a partial decision on liability in a bifurcated case as final, it mis-

led appellants to believe the whole case was consummated and they began 

their appeal. However, the label was incorrect and it was inconsequential 

for the purpose of judicial review as the decision was not a final decision 

of the whole controversy and, thus, not eligible for judicial review. 

3. If the administrative decision was a final, full adjudication of the 
whole controversy and eligible for review, did the superior court 
err by dismissing review for want of jurisdiction where the peti
tioners substantially complied with the requirements necessary to 
vest jurisdiction? 

The August 8, 2014, order of the superior court granted 

Respondent Dept of Natural Resources' motion to dismiss McLarens' 

petition for review with prejudice for failing to serve a copy of their 
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petition on the agency that rendered the decision as required by RCW 

34.05.542(2). 

As authority in their motion DNR cited Sprint Spectrum, LP v. 

State Dept of Revenue, 156 Wn. App. 949 (2010), in which petitioner's 

appeal was dismissed because petitioner never even attempted to serve the 

agency that made the decision. DNR also cited Banner Realty, Inc. v. 

Dept of Revenue, 48 Wn. App. 274, 738 P.2d 279 (1987), in which 

petitioner's appeal was dismissed because service on the agency was not 

attempted until three days after the deadline had expired. 

But this case is distinguishable in its facts from both Sprint 

Spectrum and Banner Realty. Here, unlike those cases, the McLarens 

initiated service in advance so all copies would be received on time. They 

took pains to comply in all respects with the statute. 

The Banner Realty court (despite dismissing the appeal it was 

reviewing at the time) said that under the right circumstances an appeal 

should not be dismissed if the petitioner actually complied in essence with 

the purpose of the statute. The court, quoting In re Santore, 28 Wn. App. 

319, 327, 623 P.2d 702 (1981), said: 

Substantial compliance has been defined as actual 
compliance in respect to the substance essential to every 
reasonable objective of the statute. It means a court should 
determine whether the statute has been followed sufficiently 
so as to carry out the intent for which the statute was adopted. 
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What constitutes substantial compliance with a statute is a 
matter depending on the facts of each particular case. 

Applying the above to this case we find the objective ofRCW 

4.05.542(2) is to have appeals served on the deciding agency within 30 

days of the decision. Compliance with that 30-day deadline should be 

available by any reasonable means including appellant's personal delivery, 

courier delivery, or mailing via U.S. mail, UPS, etc. 

If the federal mail service is deemed to be a reliable means of 

delivery, the McLarens should be deemed to have met the criteria for sub-

stantial compliance. They mailed1 copies of their appeal via U.S. mail to 

the agency, adverse party, and superior court. They mailed them in suf-

ficient time (allowing more than 3 days for delivery) for all addressees to 

receive them by the 30-day deadline. The agency decision occurred on 

April 24, 2014, and the 30th day fell on Saturday, May 24, pushing the 

deadline to Monday, May 26. The McLaren mailed copies to all addres-

sees on May 22, 2014, allowing four days mailing time. 

1 The McLarens resorted to using the U.S. mail for delivery because of the distance 
they would have had to drive to serve them. Thomas McLaren lives on the Oregon 
coast and a round trip drive to deliver them would have taken 2 days to accomplish. 
Alexander McLaren lives in Anacortes and a round trip drive would have taken 1 
long day to accomplish. As a result, they sent the copies through the U.S. mail. 
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The superior court received its mailed copy on time. DNR 

received its mailed copy one day late on May 27. The agency did not 

receive its mailed copy. 

There is proof appellants mailed the copies, and proof they mailed 

them early. The record on appeal contains the appellant's declaration and 

exhibits on the matter. Appellant's declaration, at CP 156-7, explains his 

actions in the mailing matter. Exhibits to his declaration, CP 158-9, show 

copies of all three addressed envelopes, two of which have stamps and one 

without a stamp. CP 160 of the record shows a postal receipt dated May 

22, 2015, for the purchase of one "Forever Swallow PSA" stamp because 

appellant had only two stamps and needed a third stamp to complete mail

ing of all three envelopes to all three addressees. The receipt shows he 

bought the stamp on May 22 from the U.S. Post Office in Anacortes which 

is where he then mailed all three envelopes. 

In conclusion, the evidence shows appellants substantially com

plied with RCW 4.05.542(2) by mailing copies via federal mail to all 

addressees in sufficient time to meet the 30-day deadline of the statute. 

The court should conclude that these appellants substantially complied 

with the statutory requirements to vest appellate jurisdiction in the 

superior court. 
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4. If the agency decision was final and eligible for review, and the 
superior court properly dismissed review for lack of jurisdiction, 
did the court err by subsequently granting additional relief despite 
the court's acknowledged lack of jurisdiction to grant such 
additional relief? 

The August 8, 2014, the superior court order granted respondent's 

motion to dismiss review for lack of jurisdiction. But the order then went 

on to grant additional relief of dismissing Alexander McLaren as an appel-

lant on the grounds of lack of standing and failure to exhaust administra-

tive remedies. The court lacked authority to grant such additional relief. 

The Washington Supreme Court has stated "the rule is well known 

and universally respected that a court lacking jurisdiction of any matter 

may do nothing other than enter an order of dismissal. Deshenes v. King 

County, 83 Wn.2d 714; 521P.2d1181(1974);21 C.J.S. Courts 118 

(1940) 

Here, after the superior court decided it had no jurisdiction, the 

only act it could take was to enter an order of dismissal. The court had no 

authority to dismiss Alexander McLaren as an appellant on the grounds of 

lack of standing and/or failure to exhaust administrative remedies which 

was additional relief requested by the respondent. 

F. CONCLUSION 
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For the foregoing reasons, the partial administrative decision on 

the matter of liability of which petitioners mistakenly sought review 

should be determined to be ineligible for review until a final decision of 

the whole controversy has been made at which time petitioners may 

initiate review without prejudice. The superior court order on this matter 

should be reversed in its entirety and no prejudice should accrue to 

petitioners.