NO. 72512-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THOMAS MCLAREN,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES,

Respondent.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TERENCE A. PRUIT Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 34156 1125 Washington Street SE P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-0602

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

⁵ Thirty days after April 24, 2014, of the Final Order was May 24, 2014, a Saturday, and the following Monday was Memorial Day. Thus, the last day for Mr. McLaren to file and serve his Petition for Review was May 27, 2014, under CR 6(a).

⁶ In *Ricketts*, alternative service on the agency was completed by service on the attorney of record for the agency as permitted under RCW 34.05.546. No such alternative service was completed by Mr. McLaren in this case.

petition); Banner Realty, Inc., v. Dep't of Revenue, 48 Wn. App. 274, 278-79, 738 P.2d 279 (1987) (late service of BTA required dismissal).

In his opening brief, Mr. McLaren argues that although he failed to deliver a copy of his Petition for Review to the Board as required for service on the Board, the Court should find he substantially complied with the service requirements of RCW 34.05.542(2). Appellant's Br. at 9-12. Mr. McLaren's argument that he substantially complied with the requirements of RCW 34.05.542 fails for two reasons: (1) the evidence on which Mr. McLaren relies to establish substantial compliance should not be considered because it was available before the superior court ruled on DNR's motion to dismiss, but was not presented to the superior court until Mr. McLaren's motion for reconsideration of the Order and (2) even if the evidence of mailing provided in support of reconsideration had been timely submitted to the superior court, it does not establish substantial compliance with the requirements of RCW 34.05.542.

1. The Superior Court Properly Rejected the Evidence of Mailing, Which Mr. McLaren Presented for the First Time in His Motion for Reconsideration, Because the Evidence Was Available but Not Presented Before the Superior Court Ruled on DNR's Motion to Dismiss.

The burden of proving compliance with the APA's procedural requirements is on the party seeking judicial review of an administrative order. The APA requires that the petitioner set forth "[f]acts to

demonstrate that [he is] entitled to obtain judicial review." RCW 34.05.546(6). Here, DNR moved to dismiss Mr. McLaren's Petition on the grounds that he had failed to timely serve the Board. CP 50-53. Thus, Mr. McLaren was well aware of the necessity of bringing forward any facts relevant to that issue before the court issued its decision. Mr. McLaren failed to do so and only presented facts regarding service of his Petition for Review on the Board after the court's decision, in support of his motion for reconsideration of the superior court's dismissal order. Appellant's Br. at 4 (citing CP 156-64). Because the facts presented by Mr. McLaren were available but not presented to the superior court prior to its ruling on DNR's motion to dismiss, the superior court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. McLaren's motion for reconsideration. Go2Net, Inc., 115 Wn. App. at 91 (refusing to consider evidence submitted in declaration supporting reconsideration because not newly discovered); Fishburn v. Pierce County Planning & Land Servs. Dep't, 161 Wn. App. 452, 472-73, 250 P.3d 146 (2011) (holding that party not entitled to submit evidence on reconsideration if available but not offered until after the decision).

Evidence submitted for the first time in support of a motion for reconsideration will be considered only under limited circumstances.

Under CR 59(a)(4), the superior court may vacate a verdict or other order

based on "newly discovered evidence, material for the party making the application, which he could not with reasonable diligence have discovered and produced at the trial." Under the rule, a new trial or hearing may be granted based on newly presented evidence only if the evidence: (1) will probably change the result; (2) was discovered after the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before trial with due diligence; (4) is material; and (5) not merely cumulative or impeaching. *Go2Net*, *Inc.*, 115 Wn. App. at 88 (citing *Holaday v. Merceri*, 49 Wn. App. 321, 329, 742 P.2d 127 (1987)). If the newly proffered evidence fails to satisfy any one of the five criteria, it is grounds for denial of the motion for reconsideration. *Id*.

The evidence of mailing that Mr. McLaren provided in support of his motion for reconsideration fails to meet any of the first three criteria. First, the evidence, if timely submitted, would not have changed the result. Under RCW 34.05.542(4), service on the Board is accomplished by delivery of the Petition for Review to the Board. *See Ricketts*, 111 Wn. App. at 118 (RCW 34.05.542(4) creates exception to the general rule that service is complete upon deposit of petition in the mail). Because Mr. McLaren's evidence of mailing does not establish delivery of the Petition, it would not have changed the outcome at the superior court.⁷

⁷ Even assuming arguendo that the Court were to hold that sufficient proof of mailing could create a presumption of delivery under RCW 34.05.542(4), Alexander McLaren's declaration that he mailed the Petition for Review to the Board is

Second, Mr. McLaren fails to meet the requirements for presenting new evidence under CR 59(a)(4) because it is beyond dispute that the purported evidence of mailing, if it occurred as stated in Alexander McLaren's declaration, was known to the McLarens as of May 22, 2014. The evidence could have been presented, therefore, at the August 8, 2014, hearing through the use of ordinary diligence. DNR served its motion to dismiss on June 30, 2014, more than a month in advance of the hearing. CP 107-08. Because "the evidence was available but not offered until after the opportunity passed," Mr. McLaren was not entitled to submit the evidence, and the superior court did not abuse its discretion in denying his motion for reconsideration. Fishburn, 161 Wn. App. at 472-73; Go2Net, Inc., 115 Wn. App. at 89-90 ("There is no abuse of discretion where the trial court refuses to consider an untimely affidavit concerning matters that occurred well before the suit was brought.") Accordingly, the Court should affirm the superior court's dismissal order and its denial of Mr. McLaren's motion for reconsideration.

insufficient to establish the presumption. See pp. 20-21 below. Moreover, it is undisputed that the Petition was never received by the Board. Appellant's Br. at 4, 12. Accordingly, the declaration from the Board that the Petition was never received would have rebutted any such presumption. See Tassoni v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 108 Wn. App. 77, 87, 29 P.3d 63 (2001).

2. Even if the Evidence of Mailing Presented in Alexander McLaren's Declaration Had Been Timely Submitted to the Superior Court, It Would Not Have Established Substantial Compliance With the APA's Service Requirements.

Mr. McLaren argues that the Court should excuse his failure to serve the Board with his Petition for Review under the doctrine of substantial compliance. Appellant's Br. at 9-12. As explained above, the superior court properly disregarded the evidence of mailing submitted by Mr. McLaren because he presented it for the first time on a motion for reconsideration. Even assuming *arguendo* that the evidence of mailing had been timely submitted, however, the doctrine of substantial compliance has no application here because (1) RCW 34.05.542(4) requires delivery to complete service of a petition for judicial review on the Board and (2) the evidence of mailing provided by Mr. McLaren does not create a presumption under RCW 34.05.542(4) that the Petition for Judicial Review was delivered to the Board.

a. Mailing of Petition for Review Is Not Sufficient for Service on the Board.

Generally, the doctrine of substantial compliance permits some deviation from the requirements of a statute if there has been actual compliance with the "substance essential to every reasonable objective" of the statute. See, e.g., City of Seattle v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n

("PERC"), 116 Wn.2d 923, 928, 809 P.2d 1377 (1991). It is well established, however, that one cannot substantially comply with a time limit. See id. at 928-29. A party acts either before or after a time limit. Id. In this case, the doctrine of substantial compliance cannot, therefore, turn late or no service of the Petition on the Board into timely service. Here, it is undisputed that Mr. McLaren's Petition for Review was not delivered to the Board within 30 days of service of the Board's Order as required by RCW 34.05.542(4). Appellant's Br. at 4, 12. Accordingly, service on the Board was not accomplished.

Mr. McLaren's assertion that his brother mailed the Petition to the Board does not establish substantial compliance with the requirement that the Petition be delivered to the Board as required under RCW 34.05.542(4). Even assuming substantial compliance could be applied to the requirement of delivery of the Petition to the Board under RCW 34.05.542(4), mailing the Petition to the Board standing alone cannot turn noncompliance with the delivery requirement into compliance. A primary reason for the 30-day service requirement in RCW 34.05.542 is to ensure that judicial review is promptly sought and completed. *See Banner Realty*, 48 Wn. App. at 278 (discussing dismissal for late service of agency under prior version of statute). To that end, delivery of the petition to the agency that issued the final decision subject to judicial

review is "vital to the timely functioning of the review process. Without such service, there is no record before the superior court and thus, no basis for review." *Id.*; *Sprint Spectrum*, 156 Wn. App. at 958-59. Because receipt of the Petition for Review by the Board is "vital" to the judicial review process established in RCW 34.05.542(4), Mr. McLaren's failure to deliver the Petition for Review to the Board within the time allowed does not comply with the "substance essential to every reasonable objective" of RCW 34.05.542(4). Thus, regardless of whether Mr. McLaren mailed the Petition for Review, evidence that the Petition was mailed does not establish substantial compliance with the statute. *Id.*

b. Alexander McLaren's Declaration of Mailing Does Not Create a Presumption That the Petition for Review Was Delivered to the Board.

Because the plain language of RCW 34.05.542(4) requires delivery to complete service on the Board, no presumption of service can be created based on mailing. "[I]t is well established that statutory procedural requirements must be met in order for a superior court to exercise its appellate jurisdiction." *Knight*, 173 Wn.2d at 337 (citation omitted).

Where the procedural requirements of a statute relate to the time for service and filing of the appeal with the superior court, strict compliance with the statutory procedural requirements is required. *Id.*

Accordingly, courts have long held that there can be no substantial compliance with the timeliness of statutory deadlines for service or filing of an appeal with the superior court. *See, e.g., PERC,* 116 Wn.2d at 927-28; *Clymer v. Emp't Sec. Dep't,* 82 Wn. App. 25, 29, 917 P.2d 1091 (1996) (" failure to comply . . . or belated compliance, cannot constitute substantial compliance with the requirements relating to the filing of a petition for judicial review"); *Banner Realty,* 48 Wn. App. at 277 (substantial compliance does not encompass noncompliance with service requirements).

It is undisputed here that the Petition for Review was not delivered to the Board. Appellant's Br. at 4, 12. Accordingly, Mr. McLaren's evidence of mailing fails to establish compliance with the requirements of RCW 34.05.542(4). When interpreting a statute "[t]he court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Sprint Spectrum*, 156 Wn. App. at 953 quoting *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Part of Ecology v. Campbell & P*

⁸ The cases that have recognized substantial compliance do so where service has been completed but is procedurally deficient in some manner. See, e.g., Skinner v. Civil Serv. Comm'n of City of Medina, 168 Wn.2d 845, 232 P.3d 558 (2010) (service on city clerk rather than Commission was substantial compliance). That might be the case, for example, where a petition for review was delivered to the city clerk at city hall where the city council designated by statute for service maintained its offices. Id. In this case, however, it is undisputed that the Petition was not delivered at all. Accordingly, there was no compliance with RCW 34.05.542(4), substantial or otherwise.

Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Read in the context of RCW 34.05.542(4) as a whole, the plain language of RCW 34.05.542(4) requiring that "[s]ervice of the petition on the agency shall be by delivery..." establishes that mailing does not meet the requirement of service on the Board; delivery is required.

The express language of RCW 34.05.542(4) does create a presumption of service *on parties* based on mailing as evidenced by a postmark but excludes service on "the agency" from that presumption. Service on the agency is not deemed complete based on mailing. Under RCW 34.05.542(4), service on the agency is only complete upon delivery. Because the Legislature provided the presumption of service based on mailing for service on parties but not the agency in RCW 34.05.542(4), the statutory language precludes a presumption of receipt based on mailing for service of the agency. *See Ellensburg Cement Prods., Inc., v. Kittitas County*, 179 Wn.2d 737, 750, 317 P.3d 1037 (2014) (applying the maxim "unius est exclusio alterius — specific inclusions exclude implication").

Even assuming *arguendo* that sufficient proof of mailing could create a presumption of delivery for purposes of RCW 34.05.542, Alexander McLaren's declaration that he mailed the Petition for Review to the Board is insufficient to establish such a presumption.

To establish a presumption of receipt "requires proof of mailing, such as an independent proof of a postmark, a dated receipt, or evidence of mailing apart from a party's own self-serving testimony." *Olson v. The Bon, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 627, 634, 183 P.3d 359 (2008). Mr. McLaren's belated declaration that the Petition was mailed to the Board does not present anything more than the McLarens' own self-serving testimony. Similarly, the receipt for a single stamp purchased on May 22, 2014, does not help establish a copy of the Petition was mailed to the Board on that date, especially considering it is undisputed that Mr. McLaren mailed other documents for which the stamp may have been purchased that day. The other attachment to Alexander McLaren's declaration, a handwritten and undated document listing addresses, likewise does not have a postmark or other indication that something was mailed to the Board.

At a minimum, RCW 34.05.542(4) requires a postmark to create a presumption of service. RCW 34.05.542(4) provides that service (other than service on "the agency") is deemed complete upon deposit in the United States mail, "as evidenced by the postmark." Based on the plain language of the statute, the postmark establishes evidence of completion of service on parties of a petition for judicial review. RCW 34.05.542 thus allows application of the mailbox rule for service of a petition for review

on parties with the proviso that completion of service is to be established by the postmark on the petition for review. Given that RCW 34.05.542(4) requires a postmark to establish the completion of service on parties, and that actual delivery is required for service on the Board, a presumption that would allow service to be completed upon the Board based solely on a declaration that the Petition was mailed would be contrary to express statutory language.

Because a presumption of receipt is contrary to the express language of RCW 34.05.542(4) which requires delivery of the petition for review to the Board, and, in any case, Mr. McLaren has failed to present evidence that would establish such a presumption, the Court should affirm the superior court's dismissal of Mr. McLaren's appeal, even if the Court finds that Mr. McLaren's belatedly presented evidence of mailing should have been considered by the superior court as part of Mr. McLaren's motion for reconsideration of its dismissal order.

B. The Board's Order Was a Final Order Because It Followed Lengthy Proceedings That Resolved All Issues Presented to the Board for Hearing and Was Designated a "Final Order" by the Board.

As discussed above, the superior court properly dismissed Mr. McLaren's Petition with prejudice because Mr. McLaren failed to serve his Petition for Judicial Review on the Board within 30 days of

service of the Board's Order. Mr. McLaren, nonetheless, argues that the superior court should have dismissed his appeal without prejudice. In support of his argument, Mr. McLaren raises for the first time on appeal an argument that he "jumped the gun" in filing his Petition for Judicial Review because the Board's Order was not a final order for purposes of appeal. Appellant's Br. at 6-9. Mr. McLaren's argument fails for at least two reasons: (1) the Board's Order satisfies the well-established test for finality under Washington law and (2) the Board's Order resolved all issues that were presented and properly before the Board for hearing.

1. Mr. McLaren Failed to Preserve the Issue of the Finality of the Order for Review.

Mr. McLaren expressly admits that he raised the issue of whether the Board's Order was final for the first time on appeal to this Court. Appellant's Br. at 6. Because Mr. McLaren failed to present issue of the finality of the Order to the Board or the superior court, he is precluded by RAP 2.5(a) from making the finality of the Order an issue now. *See State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) ("RAP 2.5(a) states the general rule for appellate disposition of issues not raised in the trial court: appellate courts will not entertain them.").

Mr. McLaren's motion provides no basis for the Court to depart from the general rule and address a new issue on appeal. Mr. McLaren

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